
2020 System Reliability RFO – Phase 2 

Questions & Answers 
 

 

1) Are Participants able to submit an Energy Efficiency Offer that includes  Direct Access 

Customers? 

 

No, Direct Access providers have their own Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) procurement 

targets, and it is up to DA providers to conduct their own solicitations.   

 

2) Can a list of Participants that have executed Agreements with PG&E in previous Solicitations be 

provided? 

 

PG&E files Advice Letters with the CPUC seeking approval of executed Agreements.  More 

information can be found on the CPUC website here. 

 

3) Is PG&E looking for System RA or Local RA in the System Reliability RFO – Phase 2? 

  

PG&E is seeking System RA. Per CPUC Decision 19-11-016, PG&E is only required to procure 

incremental system RA.  Since local RA can be used towards system RA requirements, PG&E 

will accept offers that include local RA capacity and the local RA value will be considered as 

part of PG&E’s evaluation process. 

 

4) Is it acceptable to submit a project where multiple resources are aggregated to meet the 

minimum size requirement?  

 

Yes.  Please see Section III – Eligibility Requirements in the Solicitation Protocol for more 

information.   

 

5) Is PG&E seeking energy storage durations beyond 4 hours? How will duration be scored in the 

evaluation process? 

 

PG&E is accepting Offers for all storage durations.  PG&E will evaluate offers based on the 

attributes offered including RA and energy.  PG&E will evaluate RA based on the current RA 

counting rules PG&E encourages Sellers to familiarize themselves with the RA counting rules. 

For Offers using the Long Term Resource Adequacy Agreement with Energy Settlement or the 

Behind-the-Retail Meter Agreement with Energy Settlement, the energy settlement 

component of the agreement and the resulting value is impacted by the storage duration.  

 

 

6) For the Long Term Resource Adequacy Agreement with Energy Settlement, is the energy 

settlement calculated based on the resource’s specific Local Marginal Price (LMP) node? 

 

The settlement is based on the resources’ specific “Day-Ahead Price” at the PNode.  Please 

https://www.cpuc.ca.gov/General.aspx?id=4416
https://www.pge.com/pge_global/common/pdfs/for-our-business-partners/energy-supply/electric-rfo/wholesale-electric-power-procurement/System%20Reliability%20RFO%20-%20Phase%202/2020%20System%20Reliability%20RFO%20Protocol%20-%20Phase%202_Final.pdf


review Appendix E4 – Long Term Resource Adequacy Agreement with Energy Settlement (LT 

RAA with Energy Settlement) for the exact calculation. 

 

7) For the LTRAA with Energy Settlement, does the Seller retain all energy and ancillary revenues 

outside of the highest 4-hours? 

 

Yes, the Seller retains all energy and ancillary revenues from the project.  PG&E encourages 

Participants to review the energy settlement formula in the agreement.  

 

8) If the completion of network upgrades is delayed beyond projected IDD, would Seller be able to 

provide substitute RA until IDD is achieved? 

 

No, the seller is not able to provide substitute RA until IDD is achieved.   PG&E encourages 

Participants to carefully review the applicable agreement to understand any contractual 

implications for project delays. 

 

9) Can you please expand upon the Full Capacity Deliverability Status (FCDS) requirement that is 

stated in Section III.A.5 of the Solicitation Protocol?  Does the project offered need to have 

already received an allocation or received FCDS from another resource through a Material 

Modification Process?  

 

Participants must provide a CAISO study demonstrating that their project will count for RA by 

August 1, 2022 or August 2023, or that they have already received an allocation.  Phase 1 or 2 

Study Reports, Draft Interconnection Agreements (IA), or an Executed IA with timelines that 

demonstrate the ability to meet the RFO requirements are useful examples of sufficient 

evidence.  Resources that are planning to obtain FCDS via a transfer of deliverability from an 

existing resource should provide evidence of the Material Modification Request and any 

results that have been received from the CAISO as part of their offer package. 

 

10) Is there a limit to the amount of Energy Storage capacity PG&E can procure under the Utility 

Owned Build Own Transfer Agreement? 

  

No, there is no specific limit to the amount of capacity that can be acquired under the Utility 

Owned Build Own Transfer agreement.  The amount procured would be subject to the LCBF 

evaluation and overall procurement goals of the solicitation. 

 

 

11) Will an existing gas-fired plant with the addition of energy storage be considered for 

incremental RA? 

 

PG&E will only procure the incremental energy storage that is being added to the existing gas-

fired plant. For example, if the existing gas-fired plant is 10 MW and the new energy storage is 

10 MW, PG&E will only consider the 10 MW of energy storage. 

 

https://www.pge.com/pge_global/common/pdfs/for-our-business-partners/energy-supply/electric-rfo/wholesale-electric-power-procurement/System%20Reliability%20RFO%20-%20Phase%202/AppendixE4_LT%20RAA%20with%20ESFinal.docx


12) Will PG&E accept offers for projects that provide grid resiliency services during Public Safety 

Power Shutoff (PSPS) events? 

 

While PG&E will consider offers that provide grid resiliency benefits in addition to system-
level RA, the objective of this RFO is to procure energy resources that can provide system-
level qualifying Resource Adequacy (RA) to meet the requirements set forth in CPUC D.19-11-
016.  Any offer that is submitted to this RFO must ensure that the project will provide system-
level RA by either August 1, 2022 or August 1, 2023.  PG&E recommends that participants read 
Section III – Eligibility Requirements in the Solicitation Protocol. Any offer must comply with 
the eligibility requirements specified.  
 
Given the focus on system-level RA, the offered RA component must be competitive for PG&E 
to also consider additional resiliency services. 
 
Participants should also note that the recent CPUC’s decision in the Microgrid OIR 
(Rulemaking 19-09-009) did not provide guidance or a process for considering future 
permanent generation at substations.  Participants should be aware that before committing to 
any grid resiliency services, PG&E will be required per the Decision to engage with local and 
tribal governments, including CCAs, through a comprehensive communication plan for any 
resiliency effort. 
 
Furthermore, given the additional technical complexities associated with any resiliency 
service, additional evaluation and review will be required to ensure that any grid resiliency 
component offered meets PG&E’s specific distribution area needs including ability to safely 
and reliably meet specific substation load on a sustained basis, for example.  
 
Given the CPUC direction to engage local jurisdictions along with the need to complete this 

RFO prior to December 31, 2020, the resiliency components of any offer into this RFO will 

have to be considered separately and on a different timeline from the procurement of system-

level RA.  Participants should recognize these timing and communication needs, as well as the 

need to provide competitive RA and meet local distribution technical needs, and structure 

their offers accordingly. 

 

13) On question 9, PG&E states that a CAISO study is required. Can a third-party consultant study be 
substituted?   
 
No, a CAISO study is required. A third-party consultant study cannot be substituted. 

 
14) The RFO instructions say, in part, that "To transact under the Resource Adequacy Confirm, a 

Seller must have a current EEI Master Agreement in place with PG&E." Is there a difference 
between an EEI Master Agreement and the Appendix E1 Resource Adequacy Confirm? If so, 
does PG&E have a draft EEI Master Agreement available? 
 
The Resource Adequacy Confirm acts as an addendum to the EEI Master Agreement. PG&E will 
use the RA Confirmation under the EEI contract to effectuate the transaction. If you do not 
have an EEI Master Agreement in place with PG&E, contact us as soon as possible so we can 
initiate the process to execute a Master Agreement. 



 
15) Do participants that intend to sign an Agreement other than the Resource Adequacy Confirm 

also need to have an EEI Master Agreement in place with PG&E? 
 
No. 
 

16) Can an offer combine Energy Efficiency (EE) with DER? 
 
Offers for each agreement type must be submitted separately. The minimum offer sizes are 
listed in the Solicitation Protocol. 
 

17) Do participants need to provide Appendix G1 – Letter of Credit at time of Offer submission?  
 

No, participants do not need to provide Appendix G1 – Letter of Credit or Appendix G2 – W9 
Form at time of Offer submission.  Appendix G1 or Appendix G2 will be required if a 
participant’s Offer is chosen to be on the Shortlist.  Please see the solicitation schedule in 
Table I.1 of the Solicitation Protocol as to when the Shortlist Offer Deposit is due.  This update 
was made as part of the updated 2020 System Reliability RFO – Phase 2 Solicitation Protocol 
posted on the solicitation website on August 5, 2020. 
 

18) Do the Offers submitted into the 2020 System Reliability RFO – Phase 2 Solicitation need to be 
binding? 
 
Consistent with the requirements of the Protocol, PG&E expects the Participant to submit a 

good faith Offer that, if selected for PG&E’s Shortlist, will translate into a definitive 

Agreement consistent with the form of Agreement submitted with the Offer.   Please refer to 

the language of Protocol Sections V.A.4, V.A.6, and XII.  

 

19) Why is it a requirement that Energy Efficiency offers provide energy efficiency services only to 

customers who take bundled services from PG&E? 

PG&E expects that procurement costs associated with any transaction under this RFO (with 
the exception of PG&E’s role in backstop procurement specific to Load Serving Entities who 
declined to procure their mandate in CPUC D.19-11-016) will be only recovered from bundled 
customers, and thus all offers under this RFO should only benefit those customers that will 
ultimately pay for the supply-side or demand-side resource. 
 

20) Will PG&E consider extending the 2020 System Reliability RFO – Phase 2 offer submission 
deadline of August 19, 2020?  

 
PG&E is required to procure a total of 765.1 MW per CPUC D.19-11-016, which must achieve 
an Initial Delivery Date of August 1, 2023.  75% of that procurement mandate must achieve an 
Initial Delivery Date by August 1, 2022.  PG&E must complete the RFO and submit all executed 
agreements to the CPUC for approval to meet the mandated deadlines.  Given this expedited 
timeframe, PG&E will not extend the 2020 System Reliability RFO – Phase 2 offer submission 
deadline of August 19, 2020. 



 


